IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC07-1470 District Court Case No. 4D05-4729

LARRY LINER, ETC., *Appellant*,

vs.

WORKERS TEMPORARY STAFFING, INC., *Appellee*.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF LARRY LINER

John G. Crabtree Florida Bar No. 886270 The Florida Appellate Alliance, PLC 328 Crandon Boulevard, Suite 225 Key Biscayne, Florida 33149 Telephone (305) 361-3770 Facsimile (305) 437-8118

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a trial court order and a district court decision declaring unconstitutional Florida's Labor Pool Act (the "Labor Pool Act" or the "Act").¹ The Act was enacted in 1995 as important and necessary remedial legislation to protect day laborers by prohibiting labor pool companies from overcharging them for goods and services. The Florida Legislature made an express finding that the Act was "necessary to provide for the health, safety and well-being of day laborers throughout the state and to establish uniform standards of conduct and practice for labor pools in the state."² If a labor pool violates the Act, it must pay the aggrieved day laborer the greater of actual damages or \$1,000 per violation.³

In this case, the relevant section of the Act limits the amount that labor pool companies can charge day laborers for transportation:

No labor pool shall charge a day laborer more than a reasonable amount to transport a worker to or from the designated <u>worksite</u>, but in no event shall the amount exceed the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area.⁴

This provision thus focuses on each charge to each day laborer (rather than on the labor pool's entire workforce), and offers two alternative tests to determine

4 § 448.24(1)(b), Fla. Stat. Unless otherwise stated, all emphasis in this brief is added.

1

¹ § 448.20, *et seq.*, Fla. Stat. (2003).

² § 448.21, Fla. Stat.

³ § 448.25, Fla. Stat.

whether a transportation charge violates the Act: the first test is a subjective one (whether the door-to-door transportation fee was "reasonable"), and the other is objective (whether the charge was more than the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area). The objective test thus broadens the analysis to "the geographic area."

The Plaintiff in this case, Larry Liner (a day laborer), alleged that the Defendant company, Workers Temporary Staffing ("WTS") (a labor pool company), violated the Act by charging its temporary workers more than the prevailing rate for public transportation in Broward County when it transported those workers within that county. Although the Plaintiff alleged a violation of the objective standard—charges in excess of the "prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area"—the trial court decided to evaluate WTS's charges based on the subjective ("reasonable amount") standard, by inexplicably focusing on what private limousines and other forms of non-public transportation would charge to transport a day laborer door-to-door, to and from each separate designated worksite.

The Plaintiff's claims were limited to transportation within Broward County. Plaintiff did not allege that WTS had violated the Act when it provided intercounty transportation or transportation in other counties. Both the trial court and the district court nonetheless focused on charges for inter-county travel and charges in other counties.

From these premises, the courts found the Act unconstitutional because it purportedly contained ambiguities that rendered it unconstitutionally vague (R. 7544-754). The trial court also found that the Act violated WTS's due process rights because of the Act's purportedly excessive penalties. (R. 7545-7548).

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Plaintiff filed a class action complaint against WTS alleging that the labor pool company had violated Section 448.24(1)(b), by overcharging its day laborers for transportation between WTS labor halls and worksites *within* the following four *separate* geographic areas: Broward, Brevard, Marion and Volusia Counties. (R. 1-11).⁵ Shortly thereafter, WTS filed a counterclaim seeking declaratory relief, (R. 594-606), alleging that sections 448.24(1)(b) and 448.25 were unconstitutional under the Due Process Clause. (R. 602-606).

On February 14, 2005, the trial court entered a case management order that called for the Plaintiff to first establish at an evidentiary hearing that he had an individual claim under Sections 448.24(1)(b) and 448.25 of the Act before he could proceed with class discovery. (R. 689-691). The court also asked the parties

⁵ The Plaintiff amended this complaint on August 5, 2004, (R. 23-43), reiterating that his claims were that WTS overcharged him <u>within</u> each geographic area.

to specifically address the meaning of the Act's prohibition against charging more than "the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area," and to argue whether or not this prohibition applied to the Plaintiff's individual claim.

On June 6, 2005, the Plaintiff filed his Second Amended Class Action Complaint (R. 1903-1917), limiting his claims to transportation within Broward County, and alleging:

(a) WTS was a "labor pool" (R. 1908 at ¶¶7-8);

(b) WTS operated a "labor hall" (*Id.* at ¶¶8, 27);

(c) the Plaintiff performed "day labor" for WTS between December 2002 and March 2004 (*Id.* at $\P\P9-10, 28$);

(d) the Plaintiff performed such "day labor" within Broward County, Florida (*Id.* at ¶9);

(e) WTS transported the Plaintiff to and from designated worksites within Broward County, Florida (*Id.* at \P 28);

(f) in transporting the Plaintiff to and from these designated worksites, WTS charged the Plaintiff: (i) \$1.50 one way for transportation from a designated worksite and a WTS labor hall; (ii) \$1.50 one way for transportation from a WTS labor hall and a designated worksite; and/or (iii) \$3.00 round trip between a designated worksite and a WTS labor hall (*Id.* at \P [16, 28);

(g) since October 1, 2000, public transportation within Broward County, Florida has cost \$2.50 for unlimited, all day travel, and \$1.00 for travel one way on the Broward County Transit system (*Id.* at \P [14, 29); and

h) the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area in which WTS employed the Plaintiff and other Day

Laborers during the Class Period was, and is, \$2.50 for unlimited, all day travel, and \$1.00 for travel one way (*Id.* at $\P15, 29$).

The purpose of the Plaintiff's second amendment was to limit his claim under the Act to only those WTS transportation charges for travel between WTS's *Broward County* labor halls and worksites *within Broward County*. He thus alleged that Broward County was the relevant "geographic area" for purposes of his claim under Section 448.24(1)(b) of the Act. He also alleged the relevant "prevailing rate for public transportation" in that geographic area was the Broward County Transit ("BCT") rate for bus travel.

I. THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING

On November 14-16, 2005, the trial court conducted the evidentiary hearing required by the February 2005 case management order. (R. 689-691). The issues to be decided at the hearing were the constitutionality of Sections 448.24(1)(b) and 448.25; whether WTS was liable to the Plaintiff under the Act; and whether a carpooling arrangement mandated by WTS exempted the company from Section 448.24. (R. 7544). The parties stipulated after the close of evidence that the Plaintiff's court-required preliminary showing would not prevent subsequent class certification if WTS failed to prevail, but that the court's findings would act as final judgment as to the issues of WTS's liability to the Plaintiff. (T. 604-611).

A. The Plaintiff's Evidence

At the evidentiary hearing, the Plaintiff presented the following evidence:

1. The Plaintiff testified that he was homeless, worked as a day laborer for WTS (T. 263-264), and that he and other labor pool workers were essentially powerless to stand up to WTS for fear they would be prevented by WTS from working on a particular day (T. 270-273). He also presented evidence that on 177 occasions WTS charged him more for transportation to and from WTS's Broward County worksites than the prevailing rate for public transportation within Broward County (*i.e.*, the BCT rate). (T. 72-79, 264-270; Pl. Ex. 29).

2. The Plaintiff played audiotape statements made at an April 19, 1995 Senate Judiciary Committee meeting by Florida Senator Daryl Jones (D-Miami), a co-sponsor of the Labor Pool Act. Senator Jones was heard commenting that the phrase "prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area" meant "government subsidized" transportation and, more specifically, "we're looking at the bus." (T. 58).

3. The Plaintiff admitted into evidence the dictionary definitions of the words "prevailing" and "public," terms the trial court had judicially noticed. (T. 70-72).

4. The Plaintiff's counsel read into the record excerpts from the deposition testimony of Grady Booth, WTS's Broward County labor hall branch manager. (T.

6

72-89). Booth testified that WTS charged its day laborers \$1.50 for one-way and \$3.00 for round-trip transportation to and from WTS worksites, *including those within Broward County*. (T. 77).

5. The Plaintiff submitted evidence demonstrating that, of all the possible modes of "public transportation" available within Broward County, the bus was by far the most "prevailing." The Plaintiff provided the court with the Broward County Annual Ridership Reports that calculated a total of 134 million people rode BTC buses from June 2000 through June 2004. (T. 96-97). By comparison, the Plaintiff showed that during the same four-year period only 29 million people rode in taxi cabs in Broward County (T. 234), fewer than 4 million rode the Tri-Rail (T. 160-161; R. 1978-1990), and somewhere between 15,600 and 37,920 rode in vanpools. (T. 225; Pl. Ex. 24).

6. The Plaintiff also presented evidence demonstrating that it would have cost him an average of over \$48.00 per day to ride a taxi cab⁶ to and from his WTS Broward County worksites (from an average daily wage of \$56.32).⁷ (T. 250, 266-

⁶ According to Broward County Administrative Code §37.2, taxi cab rates in Broward County were \$1.50 for the first 1/8th of a mile, \$0.25 for each additional 1/8th of a mile, and \$0.30 for each one minute of waiting time. (T. 253-254). Broward County bus rates set by Broward Administrative Code §37.22, are \$1.00 for a regular one-way fare with free transfers onto other buses, and \$2.50 for an all-day pass. (T. 100-101; Pl. Exs. 12-13).

⁷ This evidence was substantially supported by the Defendant's own transportation expert, Molly Hughes, who testified that it would cost the Plaintiff

270, 288-292, 521; P. Exs. 26, 29-30). If the Plaintiff had used a van pool,⁸ it would have cost him between \$400 and \$1,100 per month (or, between \$19.05 and \$52.38 per day, based on a 21-day working month), plus additional costs like gasoline, tolls, and parking. (T. 177-178, 184-185).

B. WTS's Evidence

The evidence WTS produced at the evidentiary hearing did not directly address the constitutionality of the Act, but instead focused on: 1) comparing WTS transportation charges to other types of transportation modes; 2) the Plaintiff's failure to object to being overcharged by WTS; and 3) the financial consequences to WTS should it be held liable under the Act.

For instance, Mark Lang, WTS's chief executive officer, testified that he believed WTS's transportation charges were "reasonable" under the Act when compared to door-to-door forms of transportation. (T. 329, 354-355). However, Grady Booth, WTS's Broward branch manger, testified that day laborers really had only four transportation options: They could take the WTS van, ride with a co-worker, drive themselves, or take the bus. (T. 77-79). Finally, the company's chief financial officer, Mike Stanley, testified that he would recommend that WTS

8

an average of \$31.99 per day to get to and from the worksites using a taxi cab. (T. 423).

⁸ Cathleen McIntyre of VPSI, Inc., a van pool program operator, testified that day laborers were not good candidates for the van pool program because many of them are homeless and they do not know their work destinations on a consistent basis. (T. 181-182, 194-197).

declare bankruptcy if the Plaintiff and each member of the class prevailed under the Act. (T. 526-563).

To explain its take on Sections 448.24(1)(b) and 448.25, WTS turned to its transportation expert Molly Hughes. (T. 368-443, 463-469). Hughes testified that she researched specific WTS jobsites that the Plaintiff worked in Broward, *Miami-Dade, and Palm Beach Counties*, and the possible modes of transportation the Plaintiff could have used to get to and from those South Florida jobsites. (T. 375, 422). Ms. Hughes concluded it would have cost the Plaintiff an average of approximately \$32.00 per day to take a taxi cab (as part of a combination with other forms of transportation),⁹ to and from these locations. (T. 423). Hughes also testified that in her view *there was no "prevailing rate" for public transportation* in Broward County, or in any other Florida county. (T. 445).

Finally, WTS called William Sorrells, a long-time employee of BCT, to testify. (T. 470-477, 481). Mr. Sorrells acknowledged that every county in South Florida represents a *separate and distinct geographic area*, (T. 479), and that each county sets its own bus rates and creates its own bus routes. (T. 479-480). Sorrells admitted that there is no one single "rate" for public transportation for all of South Florida, but that each county sets its own separate rate. (T. 480).

9

For example, bus, then taxi. (T. 423).

II. Trial Court Declares Sections 448.24(1)(b) and 448.25 Unconstitutional and Enters Final Judgment for WTS on Liability

The trial court found that WTS had charged the Plaintiff \$1.50 for one-way, and \$3.00 for round-trip, and that this amount was more than Broward County bus travel, which was only \$1.00 for one-way and \$2.50 for all-day bus fare within the county. (R. 7543-44). However, the court also made factual findings about transportation *outside* of Broward County. For example, the court described the cost of public bus travel in *Miami-Dade* and *Palm Beach* counties, and the intercounty cost of travel between these counties and Broward County. The court then compared *those* costs to WTS's transportation charges, which the court found were less expensive. (R. 7544).

A. The Trial Court Dissects Section 448.24(1)(b) and Finds "Ambiguities"

Rather than read the terms "prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area" together, the trial court began its analysis by interpreting "public transportation" as if that term had been used in a vacuum. Since the Legislature did not define that term in the Act, the court found that "public transportation" should be broadly interpreted to include "taxis, limousines, tri rail, van pools, etc."—each of which, the court noted, would be more expensive to the Plaintiff than the amounts WTS charged. (R. 7546).

Having decided that "public transportation" could mean even a *privately owned and operated limousine*, the court then asked, "Does this mean the prevailing rate of public transportation to the worksite?" (R. 7546-7547). The court decided that it must, stating "[t]hat to compare a non-existent bus route to the 'reasonable amount to transport a worker to or from the designated worksite' is to compare, as Gloria Steinham [*sic*] once did, fish to bicycles. Surely the Legislature meant available public transportation to the *worksite*." (R. 7547).

Thus, under the court's analysis, the proper comparison for whatever charge WTS or other labor pool companies might impose is whatever means of transportation directly served *each individual worksite* – an interpretation that completely ignores the legislative mandate that no such charge could be more than the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area, period. Based on its misconstruction of the actual language in the Act, the court then ruled that the term "public transportation" was ambiguous because some forms of public transportation, like the bus, *do not service some WTS worksites*. (R. 7547).

Having untethered the concept of "public transportation" from the crucial words "prevailing rate" and "geographic area", the trial court determined that WTS would be required to conduct "a comparison of the cost charged by the labor pool to deliver workers to the worksite as compared to the cost of *public transportation*

*to deliver workers to the worksite.*¹⁰ (R. 7548). The court found this comparison unworkable because 60% of the WTS worksites the Plaintiff worked were not serviced by buses and by necessity the Plaintiff would have required more expensive limousine or taxi service to reach them – in other words, WTS did not violate the Act because, while the bus charged less for transportation and was the prevailing form of public transportation and in the geographic area, *the bus did not provide door-to-door transportation and therefore could be ignored*.¹¹

The trial court finally turned to the term "geographical area," but dismissed the Plaintiff's assertions that "geographic area" meant Broward County, where the Plaintiff alleged the overcharging incidents occurred, and which was, as Mr. Sorrells has testified, its own separate and distinct geographic area. (T. 479, R. 7547). The court instead accused the Plaintiff of preserving his claim by "cherry picking" Broward County where he had a claim because bus fare was less than

¹⁰ The trial court commented during closing arguments that such an analysis would render the Labor Pool Act completely unworkable (*i.e.*, unconstitutional) because it would require a case-by-case, jobsite-by-jobsite determination of the "prevailing rate for public transportation." (T. 699).

 $^{^{11}}$ (R. 7547). The court also found that WTS serviced, and the Plaintiff worked, within the tri-county area and that, of 23 WTS worksites the court sampled, 14 were not serviced by bus routes and for those that were, a "large percentage" of those had no early morning bus service that could get the Plaintiff to work on time. (R. 7544). The Plaintiff testified he took the bus to WTS worksites approximately thirty percent of the time, but there was no evidence that the Plaintiff was docked pay in those instances where he arrived at a worksite late by bus. (T. 277).

what WTS charged, as opposed to suing where he had no claim because WTS had not violated the Act elsewhere.¹²

The court believed that "geographic area" could mean the entire area serviced by WTS, or all the areas worked by the Plaintiff—even though day laborers like Plaintiff are hired daily, paid daily, and discharged daily.¹³ (R. 7547). In any event, the court concluded that WTS should not be charged with guessing which of these possible meanings applied. *Id*.

At the end of its statutory interpretation, the court addressed the term "prevailing rate," acknowledging that its analysis was dependent on two assumptions: 1) the relevant "public transportation" was not limited to bus travel,

(R. 7545).

¹² The court summarized the Plaintiff's case:

In order for Mr. Liner to prevail on his claim based on these facts 'public transportation' must mean travel exclusively by bus. Any other form of public transportation would be more expensive than that charged by WTS. Even the bus in combination with any other form of public transportation would be more expensive than that charged by WTS. Further, in order for Mr. Liner to prevail, the 'geographic area' referenced in the statute must be limited to Broward County. If the geographical area is expanded to include either Miami-Dade or Palm Beach Counties or both, then the amount of money charged by WTS would be less—hence no violation.

¹³ The Act itself focuses on the individual laborer and the charge to him for one-way transportation—not the labor pool's charges to its employees as a whole:

No labor pool shall charge \underline{a} day laborer more than \underline{a} reasonable amount to transport a worker to or from <u>the</u> designated worksite, but in no event shall <u>the</u> amount exceed the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area.

^{§ 448.24(1)(}b), Fla. Stat.

and 2) that the term "prevailing rate" must apply to the cost of public transportation *to each discrete worksite*. (R. 7547). Under these self-imposed restrictions, the court concluded that WTS would necessarily be charged with knowing beforehand what forms of public transportation would service its worksites and how much that transportation would cost. (R. 7547). The court concluded that this, along with the Act's perceived ambiguities, would put WTS in an impossible position that unconstitutionally deprived it of adequate warning and fair notice of the Act's prohibitions.¹⁴

B. The Final Judgment, Holding That Plaintiff Did Not Establish His Claim under the Labor Pool Act

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