# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SC07-1470 District Court Case No. 4D05-4729

# LARRY LINER, etc.

**Appellant** 

v.

## WORKERS TEMPORARY STAFFING, INC.

Appellee

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

#### CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

#### T. TODD PITTENGER

Florida Bar No. 0768936 LOWNDES, DROSDICK, DOSTER, KANTOR & REED, P.A. 215 North Eola Drive Post Office Box 2809 Orlando, Florida 32802 (407) 843-4600 (407) 843-4444 (fax)

#### THOMAS R. TATUM

Florida Bar No. 167212 Brinkley, McNerney, Morgan, Solomon & Tatum, LLP 200 East Las Olas Boulevard 19<sup>th</sup> Floor Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301-2248 (954) 522-2200 (954) 522-9123 (fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Hughes cited to the Florida Public Transit Act, F.S. § 341.031 [Def. Ex. 13], and the Transportation Planning Handbook [Def. Ex. 12] [T 380].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Liner's own Initial Brief concedes "paratransit" is defined in F.S. § 341.031(5), and includes, taxis, limousines, "dial-a-ride," buses, and other demand responsive operations that are characterized by their non-scheduled, non-fixed route in nature." The Florida Public Transit Act supports the Judgment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Lang [T 321-68], Booth [T 482-500], Irizzary [T 500-02], Cizenski [T 90-102], and Stanley [T 526-63] demonstrated that WTS provided transportation at \$1.50 each way for far less than it cost WTS, and Liner himself admitted that WTS charged less for transportation than the other labor halls. [T 298, 303-304]

transportation," "geographic area" and "prevailing rate". Liner's Brief is not correct when it states the WTS expert "permits charges of over \$30.00 by her door-to-door analysis" when Hughes herself declined to equate Liner's average public transportation cost with "prevailing rate." What Table 3 from Def. Ex 19 illustrates is the average cost of the most reasonable and cost effective mode of public transportation that would get Liner to his designated worksites on time; the LT was not urged by either Hughes or WTS to accept this as a "prevailing rate". The LT found there was no single 'prevailing rate" when it correctly interpreted the statute to include the concept of "to or from the designated worksite" in determining "the amount" that "cannot exceed the prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area." The LT found this placed an impossible burden on WTS to determine what a "prevailing rate" would be. [R 7547]

The LT is clearly not embracing cabs or limousines as a measure of prevailing rate. The LT was correct in observing that "prevailing" does not modify "public transportation," it modifies rate [T 646-48]. The LT also observed there are different dictionary definitions for the term "prevailing." [T 646-47] Liner's reasoning that a prevailing rate in a geographic area must be the most "frequent" or common one is an argument the LT appropriately rejected when it considered F.S.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> WTS denies that Liner was "aggrieved" as per F.S. § 448.25(1) and the judicially noticed definition of the term. [R 7276] The WTS Counterclaim

§ 448.24(1)(b) as a whole. The purportedly analogous state and federal statutes in Liner's Brief are not comparable to the situation presented here because these statutes involve an administrative agency or third party setting the "prevailing rate" in a specified fashion<sup>26</sup>. The failure of the legislature to incorporate a system for determining a "prevailing rate" within the LPA renders F.S. § 448.24(1)(b) unconstitutionally vague. The setting of a "prevailing rate" for the Tri-County geographic area was never the WTS burden, and the LT declined any invitation to set a "prevailing rate" as well. Instead, the LT rightly exonerated WTS by making factual and legal findings that the \$1.50 each way rate charged by WTS cost Liner less than any viable proven form of "public transportation" in the relevant Tri-County "geographic area". Liner's premise that "prevailing rate" means *most used* from a ridership standpoint is merely an incorrect *guess* on Liner's part.

# E. The LT's Void for Vagueness Determination is Correct.

The ambiguities which the LT's Judgment ably identifies, coupled with the conflicting statutory interpretations and evidence that required this extensive record and appeal to resolve, illustrate that F.S. § 448.24(1)(b) and § 448.25 are void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of both the Federal and Florida

<sup>[</sup>R599, ¶ 28-29] and trial argument [T 568, 710-12] was that Liner received door-to-door transportation for far less than what it cost WTS to deliver it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In contrast, the federal Davis-Bacon Act sets out a uniform procedure for determining the "prevailing wage." See 40 U.S.C § 3141-47 (2000). See also

Constitution by reason of the legislature's failure to give persons of common intelligence and understanding adequate warning or fair notice of the proscribed conduct, both facially and as applied to the factual findings that the LT made. [R 7543-48] The Judgment correctly articulates the standard for testing a civil statute with significant penalties for vagueness, citing Sieniarecki v. State, 756 So.2d 68 (Fla. 2000); Zerweck v. State, 409 So.2d 57 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1982); D'Alemberte v. Anderson, 349 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1977); Linville v. State, 359 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1978). Although the LT's facial and as-applied unconstitutionality rulings are subject to de novo review, the predicate factual findings must be sustained if supported by legally sufficient evidence. N. Fla. Women's v. State, 866 So.2d at 626-27.

A vague statute, because of its imprecision, may (and does here) invite arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. Southeastern Fisheries v. Fla. DNR, 453 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984). The statute must convey a sufficiently definite warning as to the proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practices. Brown v. State, 629 So.2d 841, 842-43 (Fla. 1994). A statute is not sufficiently definite if a person of common intelligence must speculate about the statute's meaning and be subject to a penalty if the guess is wrong. Whitaker v. Dept. of Ins., 680 So.2d 528, 531 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). If a statute's meaning cannot be ascertained by reading it, the statute can be unconstitutionally vague.

<sup>41</sup> U.S.C. §351 (2000)(Federal Service Contract Act provides that Dept. of

A.B.A v. Pinellas Park, 366 So.2d 761, 763 (Fla. 1979). This Court explained: "[t]he underlying principle is that no man shall be held responsible for conduct which he could not reasonably understand to be proscribed. The vice of vagueness in statutes is the treachery they conceal in determining what persons are included and what acts are prohibited." State v. Barquet, 262 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 1972).

In addition to procedural due process, substantive due process may be implicated by vagueness. <u>Chuck v. Homestead</u>, 888 So.2d 736 (Fla. 3<sup>d</sup> DCA 2004). Under the vagueness doctrine, a statute violates the federal Due Process clause where its language does not convey a sufficiently definite warning as to the prescribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practices so that he or she may act accordingly. <u>Bama v. US</u>, 112 F.3d 1542, 1547 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997). In a vagueness challenge, if arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement is found to be likely, the court need not "resort to dictionaries or to present a parade of hypothetical horribles" in reaching its conclusion. <u>Brown</u>, 629 So.2d at 842.

The findings of fact in the LT's Judgment support the legal conclusion that F.S. § 448.24 and § 448.25, when construed together, are unconstitutionally vague. The LPA's failure to define "prevailing rate", "public transportation" or "geographic area" does not provide people of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to understand what conduct is prohibited, and arbitrary and

Labor will set the "prevailing rate" for those who furnish services to agencies).

discriminatory enforcement is encouraged due to the lack of legislative guidance. See Posely v. Eckerd Co., 433 F.Supp.2d 1287 (S.D. Fl. 2006); Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 (1972). The statutory language must "provide a definite warning of what conduct is required or prohibited, measured by common understanding and practice." Warren v. State, 572 So.2d 1376, 1377 (Fla. 1991). Due Process requires that legislatures set reasonably clear guidelines for triers of fact in order to prevent arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 572-73 (1974). WTS was compelled to spend hundreds of thousands of dollars in the defense of this case [T 348] because of the ambiguities the LT's Judgment identifies. The prohibition against guessing at a statute's meaning means a person of ordinary intelligence: (i) would not know the definition of "public transportation" was limited solely to bus service (the LT found it is not); (ii) would not have known viability of "public transportation" in terms of ability to actually get the designated worker to and from the worksite was irrelevant (the LT found it is not); (iii) would not have known the "geographic area" can mean only one thing - county boundary (the LT found it does not); and (iv) would not have known to define "prevailing rate" as most used in Broward County (the LT found this was not a correct construction of "prevailing rate"). [R 7546-47]

Throughout his Brief, Liner contends that it is WTS that was complicating and reading words into F.S. § 448.24(1)(b), suggesting the LT's purported

misinterpretation of the same "results in the Act being unworkable, absurd and a violation of notice and due process." Liner has it the other way around. What Liner is urging this Court to do is essentially amend the unconstitutionally vague statute by construction, which is prohibited. State v. Wershow, 343 So.2d 605, 607-08 (Fla. 1977). Vagueness is illustrated by a comparison to Florida's present version of F.S. § 448.24(1)(b) which replaced the "prevailing rate for public transportation in the geographic area" with "\$1.50 each way." Both Georgia and Illinois have sufficiently definite transportation provisions in their LPAs because they prohibit the charging of any fee at all. See Code of Georgia § 34-10-2; § 820 ILCS 175/20. F.S. § 448.24(1)(b) did not apprise WTS or other labor companies what the prohibited conduct was, and the LT's Judgment correctly found the LPA is subject to arbitrary and selective enforcement by civil litigants.

#### F. LT's Substantive Due Process Determination is Correct.

The LPA's statutory damages of \$1000 per violation were correctly found in the LT's Judgment to constitute an excessively punitive civil penalty that so far outstrips the actual damages as to violate due process. [R 7547-48] The LT found, and Liner did not disagree, that WTS did not charge more than a "reasonable amount" to transfer Liner to or from the designated worksite. WTS therefore clearly did not engage in reprehensible conduct. For WTS to be subjected to bankrupting civil penalties when the prohibited conduct was never adequately

defined, and Liner himself had the arbitrary power to determine his own amount of damages, is the injustice substantive due process is intended to prevent.

The LT's Judgment appropriately found F.S. § 448.24 and F.S. § 448.25 to be unconstitutional as violative of the substantive Due Process Clause of the Federal and Florida Constitutions. The Due Process Clause of its own force prohibits the States from imposing "grossly excessive" punishments. Cooper v. Leatherman, 532 U.S. 424, 434 (2001). Where a civil penalty award will bankrupt or financially destroy the defendant, it is constitutionally excessive. Hockensmith v. Waxler, 524 So.2d 714 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1988). Constitutional jurisprudence dictates that a person not only receive fair notice of the conduct that would subject him to punishment, but also the severity of the penalty which may be imposed for such conduct. On reason a punitive damage award may be categorized as "grossly excessive" and violative of the 14th Amendment is lack of fair notice. This means WTS void for vagueness and excessive penalty constitutional challenges must be considered cumulatively, which the LT did by making findings of vagueness, excessive penalty and arbitrary power to civil litigants to determine their own civil penalties. The substantive Due Process Clause of the 14th Amendment and Article I, § 9 of the Florida Constitution focus on both notice of proscribed conduct, as well as severity of civil penalty. See BMW v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559 (1996).

Liner's Brief acknowledges that there can be circumstances in which statutory damages might be so large and disproportionate as to violate substantive due process, citing St. Louis v. Williams, 251 U.S. 63 (1919). See also Southwestern Teleg. v. Danaher, 238 U.S. 482 (1915). There is no reason to distinguish severe statutory civil penalties from punitive damages awards where (as here) the statute provided wholly inadequate notice of the severity of the significant and substantial penalties to which WTS was subjected when Liner decided to arbitrarily seek an excessive damage award in an amount that was entirely dictated by his own statutory construction. State Farm v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408 (2003) and BMW v. Gore are just as applicable in this context because a bankrupting statutory damages award is out of all reasonable portion to the actual harm caused by the WTS conduct<sup>27</sup>. See In re: Napster, 2005 W.L. 1287611 (N.D. Cal. 2005)(citing Parker v. Time Warner, 331 F.3d 13, 22 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2003); In re Trans Union, 211 F.R.D. 328, 350-51 (N.D. III. 2002). Grossly excessive penalty concerns, on substantive due process grounds, are of particular concern in class actions, where the aggregation of individual claims "may expand the potential statutory damages suffered so far beyond the actual damages suffered that the statutory damages come to resemble punitive damages". Parker, 331 F3d at 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> There was no harm, because Liner received door-to-door transportation at \$1.50 each way, which is less than its actual cost, and less than any comparable form of public transportation that would actually get him to the worksite on time.

See also London v. Wallmart, 340 F.3d 1246, 1255, n. 5 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003); Ratner v. Chemical Bank, 54 F.R.D. 412 (S.D.N.Y. 1972). Klay v. Humana, 382 F.3d 1241 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004), the case relied upon in Liner's Brief to dispute this premise, is distinguishable because no evidence of financial impact was introduced. In Liner v. WTS, a trial was conducted and factual findings were in fact made.

The Judgment found that Liner's civil penalty (\$1,000) to damage (\$0.50) ratio was 2000 to 1, and his statutory damage (\$177,000) to actual damage (\$265) ratio was 667 to 1. [R 7544] The Judgment found that Liner sought class certification to represent claims of at least 1,500, and potentially all, 22,000 WTS laborers. [R 7545] The LT found WTS to be a company with net revenues in 2004 of just under \$1,000,000 [R 7545], and held that "[f]or a statutory damage, this is excessive. It amounts to punitive damages that so far outstrip the actual damages as to violate due process. What is even more unsettling is empowers the plaintiff to pick his desired damage figure. . . . and grant the plaintiff the arbitrary power to determine the amount of his damages." [R 7548] The Judgment elsewhere described the civil penalties as significant and substantial [R 7546], and the LT elsewhere found a ruling for Liner would put WTS out of business. [T 358-65]

<u>BMW</u> held a ratio of 500 to 1 is "clearly outside the acceptable range and a ratio of 145 to 1 is grossly excessive." The LT properly applied the <u>BMW</u> guideposts in this case, and the LPA did not forecast that such bankrupting

statutory damage exposure to WTS would flow from a reasonable \$1.50 charge for door-to-door transportation throughout the Tri-County area.

# V. THE 4DCA DECISION ADOPTING THE F.S. § 448.24(1)(b) VAGUENESS DETERMINATION MADE BY THE LT IS CORRECT.

The 4DCA Opinion reported at Liner v. WTS, 962 So.2d 344 affirmed the LT's Judgment insofar as it held F.S. § 448.24(1)(b)(2003) to be unconstitutionally vague. The 4DCA declined to address the rest of the LT's Judgment, presumably because the application of a facially unconstitutional statute constitutes fundamental error. BC v. DCF, 864 So.2d 486, 491 (Fla. 5DCA 2004). The 2DCA followed Liner v. WTS in Pollard, 2007 WL 2963816, so now two District Courts joined 2006 Florida have the legislature in recognizing § 448.24(1)(b)(2003) to be constitutionally infirm. See Chapter 2006-10, Laws of Florida, which amended § 448.24(1)(b) to replace problematic language with "no more than \$1.50 each way." Lowry, 473 So.2d at 1250 (court has right, in arriving at the correct meaning of prior statute, to consider subsequent legislation); Florida Home Builders, 564 So.2d at 173 (judicial notice of statutory amendment proper).

The 4DCA began its analysis by finding the \$1000 per violation fine imposed in § 448.25<sup>28</sup> makes § 448.24(1)(b) penal in nature. The 4DCA then observed that much of the evidence "went to the difficult issue of how to define the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> In Opinion footnote 2, the 4DCA found § 448.25, by itself, was not unconstitutionally vague. The vagueness holding was as to § 448.24(1)(b).

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